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Counsel or self-represented parties requesting argument must advise all other affected 
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voice quality issues. 
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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02109 

CASE NAME: McNEAL VS. TRANSFIELD SERVICES 

HEARING ON MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE 

FILED BY UNITED RENTALS (NORTH AMERICA) INC. 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

A trial date has been set for 3/4/22 at 10 a.m. While it is true that Plaintiff has 

failed to get to trial in a speedy manner, there is no prejudice which the Plaintiff’s 

caused by their delay. The motion is denied without prejudice. In the event Plaintiff 

seeks to delay the trial, the motion may be renewed at that time. 
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 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01539 

CASE NAME: MAGDALENO VS. HACIENDA MOBILE 

HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Unopposed motion granted. 

 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02529 

CASE NAME: TIERNAN VS. DIABLO COMMUNITY 

HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR SUMMARY 

ADJUDICATION  /  FILED BY JEFF MINI 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Before the Court is a motion for summary judgment, or alternatively, for 

summary adjudication by intervenors Jeff Mini, Christine Mini and more than 

two dozen other homeowners seeking summary judgment on Mr. Cervantes first 

amended cross-complaint ("FACC"), and/or alternatively, for summary 

adjudication of their second cause of action for declaratory relief alleged in their 

first amended complaint in intervention ("FACII"). For the reasons set forth, the 

motion for summary judgment is denied, and the motion for summary adjudication 

is also denied. 

Factual Background 

This case was commenced by Robert Tiernan and certain homeowners in the 

Diablo community against the Diablo Community Services District ("DCSD") 

and others seeking, among other things, to quiet title to the private road known as 

Calle Arroyo in Diablo. The main action was resolved by an Amended Judgment 

entered September 24, 2019 ("Amended Calle Arroyo Quiet Title Judgment").  

Prior to entry of judgment in the main action, Winston Cervantes filed a cross-

complaint and later a first amended cross-complaint addressing a path referred to 

the pleadings as the "Cut-Through." The Cervantes FACC names DCSD, 

Omid Bahrami, and Mojdeh Salehomoum as cross-defendants. Mr. Bahrami and 

Ms. Salehomoum are allegedly the owners of the residence located at 2354 
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Alameda Diablo ("Bahrami Property"). The Cut-Through passes over a portion of 

the Bahrami Property. 

The Intervenors allege they each own residences in the Diablo community. 

After Mr. Cervantes filed his cross-complaint, in June 2020 the Intervenors 

entered into a stipulation with the other parties to intervene by filing a Complaint 

in Intervention ("CII"), which was approved by the Court. The CII named as 

defendants Mr. Cervantes, Mr. Bahrami, Ms. Salehomoum, and Bart Wooten as 

Trustee of the 1998 Frederick and Jane M. Wooten Revocable Trust U/D/D 

("Wooten"), alleged to be the owner of 2328 Alameda Diablo ("Wooten 

Property"). They allege the Wooten Property is also part of the Cut-Through.  

The Court sustained Cervantes' demurrer to the Intervenors' quiet title cause of 

action without leave to amend for lack of standing, and to their declaratory relief 

cause of action with leave to amend, to the extent they could allege a declaratory 

relief claim not founded on their quiet title claim. (11/6/2020 Ruling.) The 

Intervenors filed their FACII with two causes of action for declaratory relief 

(second cause of action) and for nuisance (third cause of action). The Court 

overruled Cervantes' demurrer to the FACII.  

Standards Governing Summary Judgment and Summary Adjudication 

Under Code of Civil Procedure § 437c(c), a motion for summary judgment "shall 

be granted if all the papers submitted show that there is no triable issue as to any 

material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." 

(Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(c).) " '[W]here the plaintiff has … moved for summary 

judgment … [it] has the burden of showing there is no defense to a cause of action. 

(Code Civ. Proc., § 437c, subd. (a).) That burden can be met if the plaintiff 'has 

proved each element of the cause of action entitling [it] to judgment on that cause 

of action.' (Code Civ. Proc., § 437c, subd. (p)(1).) If the plaintiff meets this burden, 

it is up to the defendant 'to show that a triable issue of one or more material facts 

exists as to that cause of action or a defense thereto.' (Code Civ. Proc., § 437c, 

subd. (p)(1).)' [Citation omitted.]" (Advent, Inc. v. National Union Fire Ins. Co. of 

Pittsburgh, PA (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 443, 453.)  

When a defendant moves for summary judgment, the defendant bears the burden of 

producing evidence that plaintiff cannot prove one or more essential elements of 

plaintiff's claim or that there is a complete defense to the claim. (Aguilar v. Atlantic 
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Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 850; Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(o)(1) and (2).) 

"Once a defendant has met its burden of showing that a cause of action has no 

merit, 'the burden shifts to the plaintiff . . . to show that a triable issue of one or 

more material facts exists as to that cause of action or a defense thereto.' [Citation 

and internal quotations omitted.] The plaintiff may not rely upon the mere 

allegations or denials of its pleading to show a triable issue of material facts exists 

but instead shall set forth the specific facts showing that a triable issue of material 

fact exists. [Citations omitted.]." (Gafcon, Inc. v. Ponsor & Associates (2002) 98 

Cal.App.4th 1388, 1401.) 

In deciding a motion for summary judgment or summary adjudication, the Court 

views the evidence in the light most favorable to the opposing party, drawing "all 

reasonable inferences in favor of that party. [Citations omitted.]" (Weiss v. People 

ex rel. Dept. of Transportation (2020) 9 Cal.5th 840, 864.) Declarations and other 

evidence offered in support of a motion for summary judgment are strictly 

construed, while declarations and evidence offered in opposition to the motion are 

liberally construed. (D’Amico v. Bd. of Medical Examiners (1974) 11 Cal.3d 1, 20; 

Johnson v. American Standard (2008) 43 Cal.4th 56, 64.) 

The Court cannot weigh the credibility of witnesses or other evidence in ruling on 

a motion for summary judgment or summary adjudication, and where there is a 

conflict in the evidence on material issues of fact or a conflict in the inferences to 

be drawn from that evidence, the Court must deny the motion. (Binder v. Aetna 

Life Ins. Co. (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 832, 840 ["The trial court may not weigh the 

evidence in the manner of a fact finder to determine whose version is more likely 

true."]; Weiss v. People ex rel. Dept. of Transportation, supra, 9 Cal.5th at 864 

["summary judgment shall not be granted by the court based on inferences 

reasonably deducible from the evidence if contradicted by other inferences or 

evidence that raise a triable issue as to any material fact."]; Code Civ. Proc. 

§ 437c(c).) 

A motion for summary adjudication under Code of Civil Procedure § 437c(f)(1) 

can only be granted "if it completely disposes of a cause of action, an affirmative 

defense, a claim for damages, or an issue of duty." (Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(f)(1).) 

(See also Nazir v. United Airlines, Inc. (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 243, 251.) 
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Analysis 

A. The Intervenors Have Not Met Their Initial Burden on the Motion for 

Summary Judgment on the Cervantes FACC for Procedural Reasons 

 

The Intervenors move for summary judgment on the "First Amended Cross-

Complaint," meaning the Cervantes FACC. (Mot. p. 2, ll. 7-9; Separate Statement 

of Undisputed Material Facts ISO Mot. ("SSUMF") p. 2, ll. 1-22.) They did not 

move for summary judgment on their FACII, which they make clear in their Reply 

in stating that the nuisance cause of action, the third cause of action of the FACII, 

is not at issue in their motion. (Reply p. 6, ll. 1-4.) (See also Reply, p. 3, ll. 23-25 

[citing the allegations of the Cervantes FACC].) The Opposition incorrectly 

characterizes the motion for summary judgment as being a motion for summary 

judgment on the Intervenors' FACII. (Opp. p. 10, ll. 18-19.) 

Nevertheless, for the reasons set forth below, the Intervenors' motion for summary 

judgment on the Cervantes FACC must be denied because the Intervenors have not 

taken the required procedural steps to become a party to the FACC by filing an 

answer in intervention in that action, aligning themselves with the defendants 

opposing the relief sought by Cervantes in his FACC. Intervenors have therefore 

not met their initial burden on the motion for summary judgment, and cannot 

prevail on that aspect of the motion. 

1. Pleadings Generally 

 

Complaints, answers, and cross-complaints are distinct forms of pleading allowed 

under the Code of Civil Procedure and serve distinct purposes. (Code Civ. Proc. 

§ 422.10 [forms of pleading in civil actions].) Complaints and cross-complaints 

demand relief. (Code Civ. Proc. § 425.10.) The Code of Civil Procedure has 

expressly abolished "counterclaims" requiring causes of action asserted by a 

defendant to be asserted by cross-complaint. (Code Civ. Proc. § 428.80.) 

An answer is a defensive pleading. (See Code Civ. Proc. § 431.30(b) ["The answer 

to a complaint shall contain: [¶] (1) The general or specific denial of the material 

allegations of the complaint controverted by the defendant. (2) A statement of any 

new matter constituting a defense," and Code Civ. Proc. § 431.30(c) ["Affirmative 

relief may not be claimed in the answer."].)  



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   07 
HEARING DATE:   02/04/22 

 
 

- 6 - 

A cross-complaint is generally considered an action distinct from the action 

initiated by the complaint. (See Ohio Casualty Ins. Group v. Superior Court (1994) 

30 Cal.App.4th 444, 448.) As the Court of Appeal explained in Westamerica Bank 

v. MBG Industries, Inc. (2007) 158 Cal.App.4th 109, " 'Where there are both a 

complaint and a cross-complaint there are actually two separate actions pending 

and the issues joined on the cross-complaint are completely severable from the 

issues under the original complaint and answer. [Citations.]' [Citation omitted.]' 

[Citations, internal quotation marks omitted.]" (Id. at 134 [addressing complaints 

and cross-complaints in the context of offers of compromise].) 

2. Intervenors' FACII and Intervention under Code of Civil Procedure § 387 

 

Under Code of Civil Procedure § 387, a nonparty "becomes a party to an action or 

proceeding between others by doing any of the following: [¶] (1) Joining a plaintiff 

in claiming what is sought by the complaint. [¶] (2) Uniting with a defendant in 

resisting the claims of a plaintiff. [¶] (3) Demanding anything adverse to both a 

plaintiff and a defendant." (Code Civ. Proc. § 387(b).) Plaintiff includes a cross-

complainant, and defendant a cross-defendant under the statute. (Code Civ. Proc. 

§ 387(a).)  

Under earlier versions of the intervention statute, intervention was accomplished 

by filing a complaint in intervention alleging the intervenor's joinder with the 

existing parties or adversity to both sides. (Bowles v. Superior Court (1955) 44 

Cal.2d 574, 589 and fn. 5 quoting the former statute which provided for 

intervention by complaint].) Code of Civil Procedure § 387 was amended in 2017, 

however, and the amended statute applies to the Intervenors who intervened in the 

action in June 2020.  

The statute now provides for an intervenor to file an answer in intervention, a 

complaint in intervention, or both. (Code Civ. Proc. §§ 387(c) [motion to 

intervene to be accompanied by answer in intervention or complaint in 

intervention], and 387(e)(1) [if leave to intervene is granted, the intervenor shall 

"[s]eparately file the complaint in intervention, answer in intervention, or both."].) 

Compliance with the intervention statute so the pleadings clearly reflect the nature 

of the intervenor's participation in the pending action or proceeding is required. 

(Bowles v. Superior Court, supra, 44 Cal.2d at 589 ["[T]he right to intervene is 

statutory. [Citations omitted.] In the interests of orderly procedure, a person should 
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be allowed to intervene only if he takes a position on the pleadings in accordance 

with the requirements of section 387," construing the former version of Code of 

Civil Procedure § 387].) 

Code of Civil Procedure § 387 by its terms recognizes that the Intervenors may by 

their pleadings intervene in the cross-complaint by filing an answer in intervention 

where the Intervenors intend to "unite with a defendant in resisting the claims of a 

plaintiff." (Code Civ. Proc. § 387(b)(2).) The Intervenors here, however, have not 

filed an answer in intervention so as to become parties in the Cervantes cross-

complaint action, an action separate from the Intervenors' own cross-complaint, 

the FACII, consistent with the authorities addressed above and Code of Civil 

Procedure § 387.  

The Intervenors have cited no authority which would allow the Court to treat the 

single pleading, the FACII, as both an answer in intervention and as a complaint in 

intervention demanding affirmative recovery against the named defendants, nor has 

the Court located such authority. The intervention statute clearly contemplates that 

the intervenor will file separate forms of pleading to intervene in the action or 

proceeding and assert its affirmative claims for relief (an answer in 

intervention, a complaint intervention, or both). (Code Civ. Proc. §§ 387(c) and 

(e)(1).) Intervenors' FACII is in the nature of a cross-complaint seeking affirmative 

relief; it cannot be considered an answer to the Cervantes FACC. (Code Civ. Proc. 

§§ 431.30(c) and 387(c) and (e)(1).) 

It is axiomatic that the moving party on a summary judgment motion must be a 

party to the action in which it seeks summary judgment. (Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(a) 

["A party may move for summary judgment in an action or proceeding . . . ."].) 

Intervenors have not demonstrated they have intervened in and are parties to the 

Cervantes cross-complaint action through an answer in intervention and that they 

are parties who may move for summary judgment on the FACC. The Intervenors' 

motion for summary judgment on the FACC is denied on that ground. 

The Court anticipates that the Intervenors will seek leave to intervene to file an 

answer in intervention in light of this ruling. The Court's prior ruling on Cervantes' 

demurrer to the CII did not address, limit, or affect the Intervenors' ability to 

intervene to defend the Cervantes' FACC based on any answer in intervention the 

Intervenors may subsequently file with leave of Court, because that issue was not 
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before the Court. Intervention, governed by Code of Civil Procedure § 387, is 

subject to specific standards for the interest an intervening party may hold which 

warrants allowing the intervenor to resist the claims asserted by a plaintiff or cross-

complainant, distinct from the "standing" inquiry for purposes of a party pursuing 

quiet title or other causes of action. (Code Civ. Proc. § 387(d)(2).)  

Motion for Summary Adjudication of 2nd C/A Declaratory Relief Claim in 

FACII 

The Intervenors also seek summary adjudication of their second cause of action for 

declaratory relief in the FACII. Cervantes opposes the motion, contending that the 

Intervenors are improperly reasserting the quiet title claim to which the Court 

sustained demurrers. Cervantes also contends there are disputed issues of material 

fact regarding the interpretation of the "riding" easement subject to the offer of 

dedication, implied acceptance of the offer of dedication by public use of the 

Cut-Through, and prior use of the Cut-Through for bicycling that preceded the 

1972 enactment of Civil Code § 1009(b). The Court finds disputed issues of 

material fact exist which preclude summary adjudication of the second cause of 

action in the FACII. 

A. The Motion for Summary Adjudication of the Declaratory Relief 

Claim Is Not Barred by the Rulings on the Demurrers 

 

The Court sustained the demurrer to the quiet title cause of action of the original 

Complaint in Intervention without leave to amend based on the Intervenors' lack of 

standing because they had no interest in the properties comprising the Cut-Through 

recognized in the quiet title statutes and case authorities sufficient to support their 

affirmative claim for a quiet title judgment. (11/6/2020 Ruling on Demurrer to 

CII.) The Court also sustained the demurrer to the second cause of action for 

declaratory relief, allowing leave to amend "but only to the extent that the 

Intervenors may be able to plead some request for declaratory relief not derivative 

of their quiet title claim." (11/6/2020 Ruling (emphasis added).)  

Intervenors amended the second cause of action. The Court overruled the 

subsequent demurrer, stating, "The declaratory relief claim is no longer tethered to 

a claim for quiet title, but is based on allegations regarding the interpretation and 

effect of the recorded documents, including the Limited Easement and Offer of 
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Dedication, allegations regarding private nuisance caused by the use of the 

Cut-Through, which is allegedly outside the bounds of the Offer of Dedication or 

the Limited Easement, to the extent either is in effect, and allegations regarding the 

Intervenors' status as members of the public who have used and may continue to 

use the Cut-Through and have an interest in its scope and safe use in that capacity. 

. . . [¶] Intervenors have alleged a 'real' interest in determining the scope of any 

public use rights in the Cut-Through and have alleged 'real' injury based on the 

nuisance they allege is causing them substantial actual harm as described above." 

(5/7/2021 Ruling.)  

Code of Civil Procedure § 1060 permits a declaratory relief claim to interpret a 

written instrument in which a party has an interest. (Code Civ. Proc. § 1060 ["Any 

person interested under a written instrument . . . or who desires a declaration of his 

or her rights or duties with respect to another, or in respect to, in, over or upon 

property . . . may, in cases of actual controversy relating to the legal rights and 

duties of the respective parties, bring an original action or cross-complaint in the 

superior court for a declaration of his or her rights and duties in the premises, 

including a determination of any question of construction or validity arising under 

the instrument or contract."].) For purposes of demurrer, the Intervenors alleged an 

interest as members of the public in determining the effect and scope of the 

permitted use of the Cut-Through under the 1979 Parcel Map, and whether uses of 

the Cut-Through by bicyclists constitute a nuisance impairing the Intervenors' use 

and enjoyment of their property.  

B. Intervenors Have Not Demonstrated There Are No Material Facts in 

Dispute and That They Are Entitled to Judgment as A Matter of Law 

on Their Declaratory Relief Cause of Action 

 

Intervenors seek an interpretation of the Parcel Map 263-78 recorded by the 

Perlows in 1979 ("1979 Parcel Map") and legal determination that (1) the "25' 

Riding and Hiking Easement" was an offer of dedication that was never accepted 

by the Parks Department and therefore did not become effective; (2) any implied 

dedication of the Cut-Through by public use by bicyclists or others based on the 

use of the Cut-Through after 1972 is barred by Civil Code § 1009(b); and (3) even 
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if the offer of dedication in 1979 Parcel Map was accepted, the term "riding" in the 

public easement is limited to use for horseback riding.  

There is no dispute that the offer of dedication in 1979 Parcel Map was not 

formally accepted by the Parks Department. (SSUMF Nos. B.1. and B.2 and 

Response.) The parties also do not dispute that Civil Code § 1009(b) precludes 

implied dedication of private property through public use alone after its effective 

date of March 4, 1972. (Opp. p. 11, ll. 8-23; Reply p. 3, ll. 14-16.)  

1. Triable Issues of Material Fact Concerning Post-1979 Implied 

Acceptance of Express Offer of Dedication  

 

After March 1972, a public easement may result from an express offer of 

dedication of land to the public coupled with implied acceptance through the public 

use of property expressly and irrevocably dedicated by the private landowner. 

(Opp. p. 11, ll. 8-23.) (Mikkelson v. Hanson (2019) 31 Cal.App.5th 170, 178-179; 

Civ. Code § 1009(b).) Intervenors argue that there can be no "implied dedication" 

of private property through public use after the effective date of Civil Code § 

1009(b). Cervantes, however, points to the provisions of Civil Code § 1009(b) 

which carve out an exception when the private property owner makes an express, 

irrevocable offer of dedication which can be accepted by the public entity to which 

the offer is made, or through implied acceptance by the public through the public's 

use of the property after the offer of dedication.  

In Mikkelson, relying on Scher v. Burke (2017) 3 Cal.5th 136 and County of Inyo v. 

Given (1920) 183 Cal. 415, the Court explained that where there is an offer of 

dedication, including an express offer, " 'acceptance on the part of the public is 

necessary to a valid dedication'," which may be actual or implied. (Mikkelson v. 

Hanson, supra, 31 Cal.App.5th at 176 [quoting County of Inyo v. Given, supra, 

183 Cal. at 418-419].) Acceptance is " 'actual when formal acceptance is made by 

the proper authorities, and implied, when a use has been made of the property by 

the public for such a length of time as will evidence an intention to accept the 

dedication.' [Citation omitted.]" (Id. [quoting County of Inyo v. Given, supra, 

183 Cal. at 418].) (See also McKinney v. Ruderman (1962) 203 Cal.App.2d 109, 

115-116 ["A common-law dedication is effected by the offer of a landowner to 

dedicate his land to a public purpose and the acceptance of that offer by the public. 
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[Citations omitted.]. … Use of the land so identified by the public for such 

purposes over a reasonable period of time constitutes an acceptance of the offer so 

made [citations omitted], without any formal action in relation thereto by 

governmental authority [citations omitted] and, if it precedes revocation of the 

offer [citation omitted], the dedication forthwith becomes effectual and irrevocable. 

[Citations omitted.]"]; Prout v. Department of Transportation (2018) 31 

Cal.App.5th 200, 208 [affirming judgment for CalTrans finding completed 

common offer of dedication by acceptance through use of the property offered for 

dedication under McKinney v. Ruderman, supra]; Biagini v. Beckham (2008) 163 

Cal.App.4th 1000, 1009 [stating a statutory dedication which fails because the 

public agency has not accepted the offer of dedication made under the Subdivision 

Map Act can operate as a common law dedication when accepted by the public].) 

While the Intervenors' Reply addresses the prohibition on implied in fact and 

implied in law dedication after the enactment of Civil Code § 1009(b) based solely 

on public use, Intervenors do not address the continuing viability of the doctrine of 

implied acceptance of an express, irrevocable offer of dedication under the line of 

authority referenced in Mikkelson, including County of Inyo v. Given, supra, 183 

Cal. 415, and other decisions cited in Cervantes' opposition. Instead, Intervenors 

argue that those authorities do not apply and that Cervantes is "wrong" that there 

was a common law acceptance of the offer of dedication in the 1979 Parcel Map 

creating a public easement for bicycling over the Cut-Through by public use of the 

easement. Intervenors contend Cervantes is "wrong" not because implied 

acceptance by the public through public use of the easement cannot complete the 

dedication legally under the foregoing authorities, but because Intervenors contend 

the offer of dedication in the 1979 Parcel Map did not allow bicycle riding based 

on the Intervenors' interpretation of the term "riding" in the Parcel Map. (Reply 

p. 3, l. 26 – 4, l. 8.) (See also FACII ¶ 41.)  

Whether the public began using the property offered for dedication within a 

reasonable time after the offer of dedication and the sufficiency of the public use to 

constitute acceptance which are required for an implied acceptance of the Perlows' 

express offer of dedication are questions of fact which cannot be resolved by 

summary adjudication on the record before the Court. (McKinney v. Ruderman, 

supra, 203 Cal.App.2d at 116.) Cervantes has submitted multiple declarations of 

percipient witnesses with knowledge of the use of the Cut-Through by the 
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declarants and other members of the public from at the least the mid-1970s for 

various uses, including hiking, equestrian purposes, and bicycling. (AF Nos. 5, 

7-19 and evidence cited therein.) The evidence raises a triable issue of fact as to 

whether there was an implied acceptance of the express offer of dedication of the 

Cut-Through by the public through the public use of the Cut-Through at a 

minimum for hiking and horseback riding.  

In the face of the conflicting evidence, the Court cannot grant summary 

adjudication declaring there has been no completed dedication of the Cut-Through 

for public use at least for hiking and horseback riding. There are also disputed 

issues of material fact, addressed below, regarding whether the term "riding" in the 

easement can be interpreted as encompassing bicycle riding or whether bicycle 

riding is a permissible change in the use of the easement because that use was 

within the contemplation of the offeror when the offer of dedication and easement 

were initially conveyed.  

2.  Triable Issues of Material Fact Concerning Scope of "Riding" 

Easement 

 

Cervantes contends the term "riding" encompasses bicycles as well as horses since 

the term "riding" is not explicitly qualified or limited on the face of the Parcel Map 

to "horseback riding" or equestrian use. (Opp. p. 14, ll. 1-3.) Intervenors respond 

that the 1979 Parcel Map did not use the term "bicycle" in reference to the "riding" 

easement and therefore bicycles are not within the scope of the easement. In fact, 

the 1979 Parcel Map did not qualify the term "riding" at all, either with a reference 

to "horseback" or "equestrian" riding, or bicycle riding. 

" 'In construing an instrument conveying an easement, the rules applicable to the 

construction of deeds generally apply. If the language is clear and explicit in the 

conveyance, there is no occasion for the use of parol evidence to show the nature 

and extent of the rights acquired.' [Citations omitted.] (Van Klompenburg v. 

Berghold (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 345, 349 [quoting Scruby v. Vintage Grapevine, 

Inc. (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 697, 702].) (See also Civ. Code § 806 ["The extent of a 

servitude is determined by the terms of the grant, or the nature of the enjoyment by 

which it was acquired."]; Civ. Code § 1066 ["Grants are to be interpreted in like 
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manner with contracts in general, except so far as is otherwise provided in this 

article."].)  

Where a writing is reasonably susceptible to more than one interpretation 

advocated by the parties, extrinsic evidence is admissible to prove the intended 

meaning of the words under the parol evidence rule. (FPI Development, Inc. v. 

Nakashima (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 367, 389-390; Code Civ. Proc. § 1856(g) 

["This section does not exclude other evidence of the circumstances under which 

the agreement was made or to which it relates, as defined in Section 1860, or to 

explain an extrinsic ambiguity or otherwise interpret the terms of the agreement, or 

to establish illegality or fraud."].) The Court may also consider the circumstances 

in which the instrument was made to aid the Court's interpretation. (Code Civ. 

Proc. § 1860.) 

Here, Intervenors implicitly recognize the term "riding" in the easement is not 

clear and unambiguous and is reasonably susceptible of different meanings, 

including horseback riding, bicycle riding or both. They offer extrinsic evidence 

to interpret the mearing of "riding" by referring to a March 1979 document from 

the County setting forth conditions for the approval of the Perlows’ proposed 

division of their property into multiple lots, including Condition No. 15 which 

states in part, "The easement shall be restricted to equestrian and pedestrian 

traffic." (Intervenors' Evid. Exh. F.)  

Both Condition No. 14 and Condition No. 15 reflect the County's apparent concern 

that there be no vehicular traffic allowed over the easement. (Intervenors' Evid. 

Exh. F Cond. No. 14 ["Under no circumstances shall a through connection for 

vehicular traffic access be established from Mt. Diablo Scenic Boulevard to 

Alameda Diablo"] and 15 ["Under no circumstances shall vehicular traffic over the 

easement be allowed"].) In addition, Condition No. 15 provides "Final details 

regarding the easement shall be determined and approved, after consultation with 

State Parks Department and the applicant, by the Planning Director, prior to the 

filing of the final map."  The 1979 Parcel Map was not recorded until 

approximately six months later in September 1979 and used only the term "riding" 

without restricting to "horseback" riding. (FACII ¶ 29.) The Court therefore does 

not find the limiting language in one sentence Condition No. 15 conclusively 

establishes the meaning of "riding" in light of all the evidence before the Court.  
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Cervantes has presented multiple witness declarations regarding the use of the 

Cut-Through by bicyclists, including riding groups or clubs, from the mid-1970s 

onward. (AF Nos. 5, 7-19.) This is also evidence that the Court can consider in the 

interpretation of the use of the unqualified term "riding." Evidence of the actual use 

of the Cut-Through during the period preceding the Perlows' recording of the 1979 

Parcel Map in September 1979 six months the conditions were stated after working 

out the "final details" of the easement with the Planning Director is relevant in the 

interpretation of the meaning of "riding" from which different and conflicting 

inferences can be drawn.   

Cervantes also offers extrinsic evidence regarding the meaning of "riding" by 

requesting judicial notice of an exchange of letters in May and June 1979 with the 

County Public Works Department. (Cervantes Evid. Exh. 1 [RJN Exh. 2].) The 

County Assistant Public Works Director responded to an inquiry from the East Bay 

Area Trails Council in which he refers to the subdivision MS 263-78 and the 

condition that the "owner establish a riding and biking trail easement" connecting 

Alameda Diablo and Mt. Diablo Scenic Boulevard and indicated a copy of the 

inquiry was being forwarded to the Planning Department, where the Planning 

Director was responsible for working out the "final details" of the easement the 

Perlows would grant. (Cervantes Evid. Exh. 1 [RJN Exh. 2].) The Court takes 

judicial notice of the letters not for the truth of statements made but because the 

letters reflect an inquiry to a public agency and action taken by the public agency 

in response. 

The conflicting extrinsic evidence regarding the meaning of "riding" in the 

easements creates a triable issue of material fact that cannot be resolved by 

the Court on a motion for summary adjudication.  

3. Triable Issues of Material Fact Regarding Permissible Use of Cut-

Through by Bicycles as Extension of Offer of Dedication for 

Riding, Even If Riding in the Easement Was Horseback Riding 

 

"The circumstances existing at the time of and giving rise to the conveyance 

determine the nature and extent of the easement. [Citations omitted.] The use may 

change or increase, but only so long as the change does not materially increase the 

burden on the servient tenement. [Citations omitted.] Any permissible change 
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would be limited 'to such uses as the facts and circumstances show were within the 

reasonable contemplation of the parties at the time of the conveyance.' [Citation 

omitted.] (Friends of Hastain Trail v. Coldwater Development, LLC (2016) 1 

Cal.App.5th 1013, 1031 [quoting Fristoe v. Drapeau (1950) 35 Cal.2d 5, 10.)  

The Reply does not address these authorities and the permissible expansion of the 

use of an easement so long as the expansion does not materially increase the 

burden. Under these authorities and based on the evidence before the Court, there 

are triable issues of fact as to whether bicycle riding is within the scope of a 

permissible change in the use of the Cut-Through based on the easement granted 

and the circumstances when the offer of dedication was made, even if the Court 

were to conclude the "riding" easement language in the 1979 Parcel Map signified 

only "horseback riding." This also precludes granting summary adjudication of the 

declaratory relief cause of action. 

Requests for Judicial Notice 

The Court grants Intervenors' requests for judicial notice which are unopposed and 

for which judicial notice is appropriate under the Evidence Code provisions cited. 

The Court also grants Cervantes' requests for judicial notice, and overrules the 

Intervenors' evidentiary objection to Cervantes RJN Exh. 2 as set forth below. 

The letters reflect an inquiry to a public agency and action taken by the public 

agency in response.   

The Court takes judicial notice of the documents and records, subject to the usual 

rules and limitations on judicial notice. (Apple Inc. v. Superior Court (2017) 18 

Cal.App.5th 222, 241 ["judicial notice of a document does not extend to the 

truthfulness of its contents or the interpretation of statements contained therein, if 

those matters are reasonably disputable," citing C.R. v. Tenet Healthcare Corp. 

(2009) 169 Cal.App.4th 1094, 1103-1104].) 

Evidentiary Objections 

The Cervantes evidentiary objections to the Declarations offered by Intervenors are 

overruled.  

The Intervenors' evidentiary objections to Exhibit 2 to the Cervantes RJN are also 

overruled. (See Evid. Code § 1280 [and 1965 Law Revision Commission 
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comments regarding admission by request for judicial notice].) (See also Evid. 

Code §§ 1321, 1322, 1331.) 

 

The parties are to inform the court by 4 pm today if they are willing to all go to 

private mediation. If all the parties cannot all agree, the court will set a MSC for 

July or August. 

 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01289 

CASE NAME: COLVIS VS. GARAVENTA 

HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 3rd Amended COMPLAINT 

FILED BY SILVIO A. GARAVENTA JR. 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

The demurrer of defendants Louisa Binswanger, Walter Binswanger II, 

Walter Binswanger III, and Silvio Garaventa, Jr. to the Third Amended Complaint 

(“TAC”) filed by plaintiff Joseph Garaventa in this consolidated case is sustained 

as to the First, Second, and Third Causes of Action, based on RICO, without leave 

to amend.  (CCP § 430.10 (e).)  It is overruled as to the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, and 

Seventh Causes of Action.  Defendants shall file and server their Answer on or 

before February 18, 2022. 

 

Preliminary Note 

 

An Opposition to a demurrer may not exceed fifteen pages, absent a court 

order.  (CRC 3.1113 (d).)  Without seeking permission to do so, plaintiff has filed 

an Opposition that is twenty pages long.  The court will consider the unpermitted 

pages this time.  However, counsel is admonished to bear in mind the page limits.  

In the future, the court may not consider pages beyond the number authorized 

by law. 

 

Discussion 

 

The court reviewed the complaint in this case extensively in its order 

regarding defendants’ demurrer to the Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”).  

It incorporates that ruling (“the prior ruling”) herein and will address the causes of 

action more summarily this time. 
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First, Second, and Third Causes of Action, Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962 

(b) – (d): 

 

The TAC clarifies the SAC by adding the following information.  The RICO 

“enterprise” consists of Louisa, Walter II, Walter III, Silvio, and an unnamed co-

conspirator, Marie (“Cookie”) Adler.  (TAC ,¶ 17.A.i.).  The enterprise was formed 

just prior to Mary Garaventa’s death in 2015.  (¶ 17.A.ii.)  Marie Adler was drafted 

into the organization in January 2018 to align her activities with Silvio and 

Louisa’s plan, as devised by Walter III.  (¶ 17.A.i.e.) 

 

The purpose of the enterprise is to transfer wealth to its members and to 

exclude Joseph.  (¶ 17.A.iii.)  The enterprise was formed because Louisa and 

Walter II were having personal cash flow problems and Silvio wanted to take 

control of the Garaventa Entities from Joseph.  (¶ 17.A.iii.)   

 

The enterprise has no formal legal structure.  Louisa heads it, but she relies 

heavily on Walter III.  Walter III is the chief advisor to Louisa and the self-

described “brains” behind the enterprise.  When he was drunk during a hunting trip 

in October 2017, he let slip that he had put together a plan for the Binswanger 

family and Silvio to harm Joseph, along with Clark and Linda Colvis.  (¶ 17A.i.c.)  

Walter II takes orders from Louisa and carries out illegal acts.  Silvio carries out 

illegal and fraudulent activities on behalf of the enterprise.   

  

The pattern of racketeering includes the following acts:  (1) elder abuse 

committed by Silvio upon Mary before her death in 2015; (2) robbery of $1 million 

in jewelry and valuables from the family safe immediately after Mary’s death; 

(3) the sending or the orchestrating of the sending of an anonymous letter dated 

October 8, 2019 allegedly containing threats to Joseph and his children, which was 

intended to weaken and terminate Joseph’s resolve to maintain an ownership 

interest in the Garaventa entities and Piper’s Patch and Joseph’s resolve to oppose 

defendants’ mismanagement of the Garaventa Entities and the Family Trust; 

(4) illegally laundering Joseph’s purchase of Piper’s Patch through sub-trusts in 

order to avoid having the main Trust pay capital gains tax on the sale of that 

property; (5) wire fraud committed by filing a fraudulent Statement of Information 

concerning the identity of the managing member of SMG,  changing the manager 

without authority from Joseph to Silvio, and then using that Statement of 
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Information to take Joseph off the signature card for SMG at Union Bank and 

withdraw $1 million (which is currently the subject of an interpleader action); 

(6) attempting to get disability payments made to Walter II when he was not 

disabled; and (7) theft of trade secrets in 2020 from the Garaventa Entities in order 

to use the information to discredit a special trustee of the trust, Father Mangini, 

in 2021. 

 

Notwithstanding these changes and additions, the TAC still fails to allege a 

RICO claim.  The earliest two acts – elder abuse against Mary before she died and 

theft of $1 million in jewelry and other valuables from the family safe afterwards – 

are barred by the statute of limitations, which is four years.  (15 U.S.C. § 15b.)  

Joseph did not file his RICO action until November 2020, five years after Mary’s 

death.  Further, Joseph never explains how the alleged theft constitutes “robbery.”  

(See Penal C. § 211 (“Robbery is the felonious taking of personal property in the 

possession of another, from his person or immediate presence, and against his will, 

accomplished by means of force or fear.))  Also, the alleged elder abuse was 

against Mary, not Joseph, and was not financial elder abuse that deprived her, or 

ultimately Joseph, of any money or property, but caused Mary physical symptoms.  

(¶ 17.B.iv.b.(2).)  These acts also have nothing to do with the plan devised by 

Walter III in 2017, several years later, to harm Joseph. 

 

While the rest of the acts that did occur within four years of the filing of the 

RICO complaint are arguably new and independent and thus, not necessarily time-

barred along with the original acts (Grimmett v. Brown (9th Cir. 1996) 75 F.3d 506, 

510; see also Lehman v. Lucom (11th Cir. 2013) 727 F.3d 1326, 1331), the 

fundamental problem is that this is a family dispute, with essentially a single 

victim, where the enterprise will presumably dissolve once the single goal of 

transferring as many assets as possible to defendants and away from Joseph has 

been accomplished and there is no continuing threat of racketeering activity as to 

anyone else.  (See Kraemer v. Padgett (Dist. Ct. Kan. 1987) 685 F.Supp. 1166, 

1171 (dispute by trust beneficiaries).) 

 

Courts have shown reluctance to permit parties to transform family disputes 

into RICO claims, particularly as part of an attempt to repackage claims raised 

earlier.  (See Condict v. Condict (10th Cir. 1987) 826 F.2d 923, 924, 928-929 

(dismissing RICO claim for lack of continuity where the case represented an effort 

to “fit a family dispute over a family ranching operation into the RICO mold”); 
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Brice v. Hoffert, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124193, 28-29, partly reversed on other 

grounds in Brice v. Bauer (3rd Cir. 2017) 689 Fed. Appx. 122 (summary judgment 

dismissing RICO claim for lack of a pattern of racketeering activity (while two acts 

are necessary, the five in the case were not sufficient) and lack of continuity; 

plaintiffs claimed their daughter stole property and corporate interests from them 

(“This case represents a family dispute over family businesses. The parents' 

allegations against their daughter amount to nothing more than ‘garden variety 

business fraud’  . . .”); Meade v. Meade, No. 1991 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16654 (E.D. 

Pa.) (court dismissed RICO claim for lack of continuity where claim involved “a 

dispute between two brothers wherein one accuses the other of sabotaging their 

joint business for the second brother's individual profit,” there were a small number 

of number of victims and perpetrators and a closed three-year period of 

racketeering activity, and the case involved a family dispute, not the regular 

operation of an enterprise through acts of racketeering).) 

 

Courts have shown similar reluctance to permit RICO claims in single-

victim cases.  (See Mocha Mill, Inc. v. Port of Mokha, Inc., 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

35218 at 31-32 (dispute between business partners; cites multiple cases in the 9th 

Circuit about single-victim cases); Kearney v. Foley & Lardner, 2012 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 201307 (alleging a single scheme of acquiring property for less than just 

compensation from a single victim, the plaintiff); Mir v. Greines, Martin, Stein, & 

Richland, LLP, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6947 at 55-56; Richardson v. Reliance Nat'l 

Indem. Co., 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 283 at 25-26.) 

 

The alleged enterprise here involves one purpose:  to accomplish a transfer 

of assets from Joseph to defendants.  It has one victim.  No facts are alleged to 

believe the enterprise will continue once its objectives have been accomplished 

against Joseph.  The RICO claim fails because the enterprise, an association in fact 

of individuals, is not ongoing and it lacks continuity.   

 

 Fourth Cause of Action, Breach of Fiduciary Duty: 

 

 In the prior ruling, the court overruled the demurrer to this cause of action as 

to Louisa, but sustained it with leave to amend as to Walter II, Walter III, and 

Silvio because they were included in it based on an allegation that they had aided 

and abetted Louisa but there was no allegation generally or specifically that they 

met the conditions necessary to establish liability based on aiding and abetting.   



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   07 
HEARING DATE:   02/04/22 

 
 

- 20 - 

 

A person may be liable for aiding and abetting the commission of an 

intentional tort if the person “(a) knows the other's conduct constitutes a breach of 

duty and gives substantial assistance or encouragement to the other to so act or (b) 

gives substantial assistance to the other in accomplishing a tortious result and the 

person's own conduct, separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to the 

third person.” (Casey v. U.S. Bank National Association (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 

1138, 1144.)   

 

Plaintiff has now added alleged additional facts in paragraph 17 regarding 

the RICO claims that plaintiff argues show how defendants aided and abetted 

Louisa’s breaches of fiduciary duty, and an allegation in paragraph 43 that 

defendants knew Louisa was breaching her fiduciary duty.   

 

Defendants claim the last of these additions is conclusory.  However, they  

cite no case stating that liability based on aiding and abetting must be alleged as 

specifically as liability for fraud.  Casey, which defendants do cite, suggests to the 

contrary.  It states, “it is sufficient for a pleading to ‘allege generally that 

defendants had actual knowledge of a specific primary violation.’”  (Id. at 1148.)  

Taken as a whole, the allegations suggest that Walter II, Walter III and Silvio knew 

that Louisa’s conduct breached her fiduciary duties and that they assisted her in 

breaching those duties. 

 

Defendants also argue that the allegations of the TAC do not show that their 

conduct in assisting Louisa, considered separately, itself constituted a breach of 

fiduciary duty to Joseph.  Defendants have the burden of persuading the court of 

the merits of their demurrer.  Casey is not clear that the requirement that “the 

person's own conduct, separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to the 

third person” means the conduct of the aider and abettor must breach the identical 

duty and constitute the same tort as involved with the defendant receiving the aid.  

If it does, there would seem to be no need to use a theory of aiding and abetting.  

The additional defendants could be sued for the same tort as the primary defendant, 

as either joint or serial tortfeasors.  In any event, this legal issue can be raised again 

later.  For now, it suffices to say defendants have failed to meet their burden to 

persuade the court that the demurrer to this cause of action should be sustained. 

 

 Therefore, the demurrer to the Fourth Cause of Action is overruled. 
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 Fifth Cause of Action, Unjust Enrichment: 

 

 The TAC adequately addresses the points raised in the court’s prior ruling.  

Whether the new allegations are true is for summary judgment or trial.  For 

purposes of a motion for summary adjudication, the scope of defendants’ initial 

burden as to this cause of action will be defined by paragraph 47, not 46.  (See 

Opp. at 16:11-25.)   

 

The demurrer to the Fifth Cause of Action is overruled.  

 

Sixth Cause of Action, Negligence: 

 

In response to the court’s prior ruling, Joseph pleads the Sixth Cause of 

Action only against Louisa and Silvio now.  This Sixth Cause of Action alleges 

that Louisa owed Joseph a duty to account for the financial matters affecting his 

trust interest, including as a manager or co-member of SMG, and that Silvio also 

owed Joseph duties when Silvio proclaimed himself sole manager of SMG.   

Defendants make no argument about Louisa’s duties as trustee of the Trust, so the 

court overrules the demurrer as to her regardless of what it concludes about her 

duties as a member or manager of SMG. 

 

Turning to the issue of Louisa’s and Silvio’s duties as members of SMG, 

Corporations Code section 17704.09 (c) states, “A member’s duty of care to . . . the 

other members in the conduct . . . of the activities of the limited liability company 

is limited to refraining from engaging in grossly negligent or reckless conduct, 

intentional misconduct, or a knowing violation of law.”  Further, section 17704.9 

(e) states, “A member does not violate a duty or obligation under this article or 

under the operating agreement merely because the member’s conduct furthers the 

member’s own interest.” 

 

Based on these provisions, Louisa and Silvio argue this count fails to state a 

cause of action “because the only relevant allegation of harm is that Silvio and 

Louisa did not act in Joseph’s best interests.”  (Reply Brief at 13:2-3.)  On the 

other hand, Joseph argues the TAC contains allegations that Silvio and Louisa 

engaged in actions that were “grossly negligent or reckless conduct, intentional 

conduct, or a knowing violation of the law.”  (Opp. at 17:23-27.) 
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The court concludes that the parties are talking past each other regarding this 

cause of action because it is mislabeled “Negligence.”  In reality, this cause of 

action is for breach of the duties that one member owes another under Corporations 

Code section 17704.09.  Because labels are not determinative in ruling on a 

demurrer (see Larson v. UHS of Rancho Springs, Inc. (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 336, 

342), the court overrules the demurrer to the Sixth Cause of Action.  To prevail on 

this claim, plaintiff will have to prove that defendants engaged in “grossly 

negligent or reckless conduct, intentional misconduct, or a knowing violation of 

law,” as members of SMG.  The claim that Louisa and Silvio were merely acting in 

their own interest would be an affirmative defense.  

 

The demurrer to the Sixth Cause of Action is overruled. 

 

 Seventh Cause of Action, Intentional infliction of emotional distress: 

 

 It is a close question whether, after the amendments, this claim should be 

governed by the result in Cochran v. Cochran (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 488 or in 

Kiseskey v. Carpenters' Trust for So. California (1983) 144 Cal.App.3d 222, 229-

230.)  The court is inclined to think Cochran.  However, on a demurrer, the 

allegations of the complaint must be “liberally construed, with a view to substantial 

justice between the parties.”  (CCP § 452.)   

 

 Therefore, the demurrer to this cause of action is overruled.  The court will 

reevaluate this claim at summary judgment or trial. 

 

 The demurrer of Walter Binswanger  

 

 Walter III argues that even if the demurrer is overruled as to other 

defendants it should be sustained as to him because there are no charging 

allegations against him. 

 

 Plaintiff argues there are such allegations.  Walter III is a defendant under 

the RICO claim and one of the associates in the enterprise. 

 

 The court is sustaining the demurrer to the RICO claims without leave to 

amend.  That ruling operates in favor of Walter III.   



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   07 
HEARING DATE:   02/04/22 

 
 

- 23 - 

 

 The Sixth Cause of Action is no longer alleged against Walter III.  Walter 

III’s demurrer to the Fourth, Fifth, and Seventh Causes of Action is overruled. 

 

 Further, if plaintiff wishes to pursue Walter III under any of the other causes 

of action, plaintiff needs to make clearer the basis for doing so. 

 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02060 

CASE NAME: WENCE VS. CRUZ 

HEARING ON MOTION TO BIFURCATE 

FILED BY RAYANN CRUZ 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Before the Court is a motion to bifurcate under Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) 

§ 598 filed by Defendant RayAnn Cruz (“Defendant” or “Cruz”). The motion is 

opposed by Plaintiff Gerardo Wence (“Plaintiff” or “Wence”). For the reasons set 

forth below, the motion is denied. 

 

Case Background 

 

This is a personal injury case arising out of an automobile accident. Plaintiff 

alleges that Defendant struck him with her car on January 25, 2017. Specifically, 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant knew he was standing in front of her vehicle and 

that she knowingly stepped on her accelerator and struck him. Defendant moves 

the Court for an order to bifurcate this matter so that the issue of liability is tried 

before damages.  

 

Applicable Law 

 

Pursuant to CCP § 1048(b), “[t]he court, in furtherance of convenience or to avoid 

prejudice, or when separate trials will be conducive to expedition and economy, 

may order a separate trial of any cause of action, including a cause of action 

asserted in a cross-complaint, or of any separate issue or of any number of causes 

of action or issues, preserving the right of trial by jury required by the Constitution 

or a statute of the state or of the United States.” However, “[w]here a bifurcation of 

issues is sought under CCP § 598 (e.g., to obtain bifurcation of liability issue), the 
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order must be made no later than 30 days before trial (CCP § 598, first para.). 

Therefore, the motion must be filed at least 16 court days before that date, or more 

if the moving papers are served by mail (CCP § 1005, see ¶ 9:31).” (Weil & 

Brown, Civ. Pro. Before Trial (The Rutter Group 2021) ¶ 12:421.) 

 

Generally, granting a motion for separate trials is discretionary. (Regents of 

University of California v. Sheily (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 824, 833; Royal Surplus 

Lines Ins. Co. v. Ranger Ins. Co. (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 193, 205; Finley v. 

Superior Court (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 1152, 1163; Grappo v. Coventry Financial 

Corp. (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 496, 504; see also generally Weil & Brown, Civ. Pro. 

Before Trial (The Rutter Group 2021) ¶¶ 12:415 - 12:424; Cal. Prac. Guide: Civ. 

Trials and Ev. (The Rutter Group 2008) ¶ 4:430.) The objective of CCP § 598, 

allowing trial of issue of liability before other issues, is avoidance of the waste of 

time and money caused by the unnecessary trial of damage questions in cases 

where the liability issue is resolved against the plaintiff. (Trickey v. Superior Court 

(1967) 252 Cal.App.2d 650, 654.) 

 

Analysis 

 

As a threshold issue, Plaintiff argues that Defendant’s motion to bifurcate is 

untimely. It is. The trial in this case is set for February 18, 2022, fourteen days 

from the hearing on this motion. As a consequence, it would be impossible for an 

order on this motion to issue no later than 30 days before trial.” (CCP § 598.) On 

reply, Defendant argues that the Court should order bifurcation on its own motion. 

The Court declines to do so at this time but may revisit this at the issue conference. 

 

Defendant’s primary argument in favor of bifurcation is her contention that 

“liability is disputed and a complicated adjudication of damages should be 

separated.” (Mot. at § III.) Defendant argues that each side has retained three 

expert witnesses on damages and “there are a number of medical providers who 

have been identified to address the plaintiff’s damage claim.” (Mot. at 5:28-6:1.) 

With respect to liability, each side has an expert witness “to address the appropriate 

conduct of defendant RayAnn Cruz in her capacity as an off-duty probation officer 

during the subject incident” as well as the Plaintiff and Defendant themselves, 

witness Jesus Wence, and the two investigating personnel for the subject accident. 

(Id. at 6:2-5.) 
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In opposition, Plaintiff argues persuasively that the issues of liability and damages 

are so inextricably intertwined that a denial of bifurcation will conserve judicial 

resources. (Opp. at § V.) Specifically, Plaintiff argues that “[t]he negligent 

operation of Ms. Cruz’s vehicle and its causation of plaintiff[’s] damages are 

essential both to proving the claim for liability and damages.” (Id. at 7:18-21.) 

Specifically, Plaintiff argues that “[a]ll the factors establishing liability are also 

facts which establish the severity of Mr. Wence’s injury, which required multiple 

surgeries resulting from the manner of impact.” (Id. at 8:2-4.) 

 

On reply Defendant’s primary argument in favor of judicial economy appears to be 

the contention that should she prevail on the liability issue, there will be no need 

for a trial on damages. (Reply at 5:18-20.) However, it also does not appear that the 

damages portion of the trial will greatly exceed the liability portion of the trial. 

Trial is estimated at eight days. While Defendant does not provide an exact 

estimate for how many days would be dedicated to damages, the savings may be 

minimal, even absent a finding of liability. The jury will already have to consider 

testimony from several witnesses for the liability portion of the trial. Additionally, 

other mechanisms exist for minimizing confusion, such as the use of a special 

verdict form, appropriate jury instructions, or altering the order of proof (Evid. 

Code § 320).  

 

Finally, since the parties would not know whether the jury will find liability (and 

the second phase of the trial would be held immediately after the first), the parties 

still would have to be entirely prepared to present evidence on damages, thereby 

incurring those costs. (In a jury trial, the Court would not consider having a 

significant delay between the two portions of the trial.) 

 

The Court finds that the interests of justice, convenience to the witnesses, and 

judicial economy do not weigh in favor of severing the issue of liability from 

damages. The motion is denied. 

 

If the parties both agree that a MSC before trial will be useful they should notify 

the court by 4 pm today and the court will provide a MSC date and time. 
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 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01019 

CASE NAME: MEDRANO VS. MEDICAL ANESTHESIA 

HEARING ON MOTION TO CONTINUE 2/25/22 MOTION FOR 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT  /  FILED BY IRMA MEDRANO 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Before the Court is a motion filed by plaintiff to continue the hearing date of 

the motion for summary judgment filed by defendants Medical Anesthesia 

Consultants, Inc. and Randall Fan, M.D. The motion is denied.  

Any opposition is due by February 10, 2022. Plaintiff has further been 

ordered to show cause re dismissal for failure to appear.  

Background 

Plaintiff filed her complaint for medical negligence on May 22, 2019, 

alleging that she was negligently treated by defendants in October of 2018, causing 

her damages. Defendants filed their answer in July of that same year. 

Approximately two years later, on July 2, 2021 defendants filed and noticed their 

motion for summary judgment (“MSJ”), which was initially set for hearing on 

October 22, 2021.  

On September 7th, plaintiff’s attorney failed to appear at a CMC and two 

days later, he moved to withdraw as counsel. Plaintiff’s attorney also filed a 

request to continue the MSJ hearing pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 

437c(h). On October 22, 2021, the Court ruled that plaintiff had not made the 

requisite showing for a continuance pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 437c(h) 

and declined to continue the MSJ on that basis.  

The Court nevertheless continued the MSJ hearing to December 3, 2021 

based on plaintiff’s attorney’s pending motion to withdraw in order to secure 

substitute counsel. The motion to withdraw was granted on November 19, 2021 

and, on the same day, parties appeared before the Court and plaintiff was advised 

she had thirty days to find an attorney. The hearing was again reset. The MSJ 

hearing was re-set for February 25, 2022. 

On January 3, 2022, plaintiff failed to appear for a CMC. The Court issued 

an order to show cause as to why the case should not be dismissed. Plaintiff has not 

yet filed any response to the order to show cause, which is scheduled to be heard 

on the same date as the defendants’ MSJ: February 25, 2022. 
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On January 18th, plaintiff filed this motion and hearing was set for February 

18th. Plaintiff then appeared ex parte to advance the hearing, which was reset for 

February 4, 2022.  

In her motion, plaintiff requests another 60-90 day continuance of the MSJ 

hearing in order to secure counsel, allow counsel to review medical and court 

documents, seek medical experts, and investigate opposing facts. 

Discussion 

Code of Civil Procedure § 437c(h) states as follows: 

If it appears from the affidavits submitted in opposition to a motion for 

summary judgment or summary adjudication, or both, that facts essential to 

justify opposition may exist but cannot, for reasons stated, be presented, the 

court shall deny the motion, order a continuance to permit affidavits to be 

obtained or discovery to be had, or make any other order as may be just. 

The application to continue the motion to obtain necessary discovery may 

also be made by ex parte motion at any time on or before the date the 

opposition response to the motion is due. 

In order to obtain a continuance of a hearing on a motion for summary 

judgment, an opposing party must show: "(1) the facts to be obtained are essential 

to opposing the motion; (2) there is reason to believe such facts may exist; and 

(3) the reasons why additional time is needed to obtain [or discover] these facts." 

(Frazee v. Seely (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 627, 633, quoting Wachs v. Curry (1993) 

13 Cal.App.4th 616, 623.) Further, there is a diligence requirement and “a party 

who seeks a continuance under section 437c, subdivision (h), must show why the 

discovery necessary to oppose the motion for summary judgment or summary 

adjudication could not have been completed sooner, and accordingly requires the 

court to grant the continuance.” (Braganza v. Albertson's LLC (2021) 67 

Cal.App.5th 144, 156.) 

Plaintiff has not filed any affidavit (or declaration signed under penalty of 

perjury) in opposition to the motion for summary judgment, as mentioned in Code 

of Civil Procedure § 437c(h). (See Code of Civ. Proc. § 2015.5.) Still, plaintiff’s 

showing would be insufficient even if she had filed a compliant affidavit.  

Plaintiff claims she has been diligent, but that attorneys have been non-

responsive, uninterested in pursuing litigation initiated by different counsel, unable 
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to accept the case due to work load, or, in the case of one attorney, demanding of 

evidence before substituting in as counsel.  

Legal representation does not determine the merits of plaintiff’s case, the 

merits of any MSJ, or the merits of this motion. The diligence in seeking counsel 

does not equate to diligence in discovery of necessary facts. Plaintiff has made no 

showing as to the existence of any facts, or why the facts have not been discovered 

since the motion was filed in July, or since her case was filed in 2019. 

The MSJ has been pending for approximately six months. As a result, 

plaintiff has had notice for twice as long as the summary judgment statute requires. 

Plaintiff has already been granted two continuances for the purposes of securing 

legal representation yet there is no evidence plaintiff has retained counsel at this 

time. More importantly, there is no evidence further continuances would result in 

the discovery of necessary facts. 

Plaintiff still has time to file an opposition should she choose to do so, with 

or without counsel. Any attempts to discredit “false statements” may be made in 

the opposition papers. The merits of the motion will be addressed in accordance 

with the summary judgment standards expressed in Code of Civil Procedure § 437c 

and the California Rules of Court, Rules 3.1350-3.1354.  

The opposition is due at least 14 days before the date of hearing. (Code Civ. 

Proc., § 437c (b)(2).) Here, that date is February 10, 2022 (as the next day is a 

Court holiday), not January 14, 2022 as plaintiff seems to believe. 

 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01122 

CASE NAME: BOLLA VS. PRESIDIUM PARTNERS 

HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

FILED BY HANSEN KOHLS SOMMER & JACOB, LLP, et al. 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

The parties to the motion are ordered to appear for a mandatory settlement 

conference at 10 a.m., to include anyone with settlement authority. In the event the 

matter is not resolved then, the motion will be continued to 2/11/22 at 9 a.m. 
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 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01122 

CASE NAME: BOLLA VS. PRESIDIUM PARTNERS 

HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION OF ISSUES 

FILED BY PAUL JERRY BOLLA 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

The parties to the motion are ordered to appear for a mandatory settlement conference at 

10 a.m., to include anyone with settlement authority. In the event the matter is not 

resolved then, the motion will be continued to 2/11/22 at 9 a.m. 

 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00769 

CASE NAME: LOPEZ VS. LOPEZ WEST PROPERTIES 

HEARING ON MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF COURT’S 9-10-21 

ORDERS  /  FILED BY STEPHEN LOPEZ 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Plaintiff Stephen Lopez’s motion for reconsideration is denied.   

This motion is an attempt by Plaintiff to re-argue the Court’s ruling on the motion for 

summary judgment. A motion for reconsideration under Code of Civil Procedure section 

1008 requires a showing of “new or different facts, circumstances, or law”. There are no 

new facts or law here. The only potential basis is “new circumstances”, which may arise 

when the Court raises a legal issue that was not raised by the parties. (See, e.g. Monarch 

Healthcare v. Superior Court (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1282, 1287.) 

Plaintiff argues that the new circumstance was the Court’s decision to find that the 

contract was breached in 2012 when, in Plaintiff’s view, the issue was not properly raised 

in the briefing on Defendants’ motion for summary judgment. This issue was raised 

during oral argument on August 13, 2021 and rejected by the Court at that time. The 

Court again rejects Plaintiff’s argument that the 2012 breach was a “surprise” issue 

introduced by the Court rather than by the parties. Therefore, the Court’s finding that the 

contract was breach is 2012 was not a new circumstance and Plaintiff has not met this 

showing there are new or different facts, circumstances, or law. The motion for 

reconsideration is denied. 
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10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00769 

CASE NAME: LOPEZ VS. LOPEZ WEST PROPERTIES 

HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE DEFENDANTS' MEMORANDUM 

FILED BY STEPHEN LOPEZ 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

The motion is denied. Costs are granted as requested. However the costs are not 

payable until such time as a judgement is entered in favor of Defendants. 

 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01490 

CASE NAME: VOLTAIRE VS. CITY OF EL CERRITO 

FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Hearing continued to 2/25/22 at 9:00 a.m. per Order filed 1/26/22 from Ex Parte 

Hearing. 

 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01490 

CASE NAME: VOLTAIRE VS. CITY OF EL CERRITO 

HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

FILED BY SUMRAD INVESTMENTS 1, LP 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Hearing continued to 2/25/22 at 9:00 a.m. per Order filed 1/26/22 from Ex Parte 

Hearing. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00099 

CASE NAME: COOLSYTEMS INC.  VS.  M BRACE LLC 

HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR LEAVE TO FILE A COMPULSORY 

CROSS-COMPLAINT  /  FILED BY DANIELA HAENA 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Before the Court is a motion by defendant Daniela Haena aka Daniela Constantino 

("Constantino") for leave to file a compulsory cross-complaint. For the reasons 

set forth, the motion is granted. Constantino shall file her cross-complaint within 

10 days of the date of the hearing on the motion.  

Factual Background 

Plaintiff Cool Systems, Inc. filed a complaint for breach of contract, conversion, 

claim and delivery and other causes of action against defendants M. Brace, LLC 

("Brace") and Ms. Constantino on January 22, 2021. Among other things, Cool 

Systems alleges Brace entered into a non-exclusive representative agreement with 

Plaintiff to act as a sales representative in a specified territory in California (the 

"Agreement") and attached a copy of the Agreement as an exhibit to its complaint. 

(Compl. ¶ 9 and Exh. A.) Ms. Constantino signed the Agreement. Cool Systems 

alleges Brace dissolved and Ms. Constantino has been doing business under the 

fictitious name M Brace. (Compl. ¶ 4.) Cool Systems alleges all terms and 

conditions of the Agreement apply to Constantino as Brace's principal. (Compl. 

¶ 13.) 

Cool Systems obtained a default and default judgment against defendants which 

the Court set aside and defendants filed their answer to the Complaint on July 30, 

2021. Four months later, Constantino filed her current motion seeking leave to file 

a cross-complaint with ten causes of action, including class claims for violations of 

the California Labor Code and the federal Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. 

§ 203, and a representative cause of action under the California Private Attorney 

General Act, Labor Code § 2699 et seq. ("PAGA").  

Governing Law and Analysis 

Under Code of Civil Procedure § 426.50, "[a] party who fails to plead a cause of 

action subject to the requirements of this article  . . . may apply to the court for 

leave . . . to file a cross-complaint, to assert such cause at any time during the 
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course of the action." (Code Civ. Proc. § 426.50.) The statute requires the Court to 

grant leave to amend or file to a cross-complaint to set forth an omitted cause of 

action if the cause of action might otherwise be forfeited, even if the failure to 

plead is the result of "oversight, inadvertence, mistake, neglect, or other cause," 

so long as the party requesting leave to assert the cause of action acted did not act 

in bad faith. (Code Civ. Proc. § 426.50; Silver Orgs. v. Frank (1990) 217 

Cal.App.3d 94, 99 [reversing denial of motion for leave to file compulsory cross-

complaint even though the motion was filed on the eve of trial where there was no 

showing the delay was the result of bad faith, and stating "[a] motion to file a 

cross-complaint at any time during the course of the action must be granted unless 

bad faith of the moving party is demonstrated where forfeiture would otherwise 

result."]; Code Civ. Proc. § 426.30(a) [forfeiture of related causes of action "if a 

party against whom a complaint has been filed and served fails to allege in a cross-

complaint any related cause of action which (at the time of serving his answer to 

the complaint) he has against the plaintiff"].) 

Code of Civil Procedure § 426.10(c) defines a "related cause of action" for 

purposes of a compulsory cross-complaint as one "which arises out of the same 

transaction, occurrence, or series of transactions or occurrences as the cause of 

action which plaintiff alleges in his complaint." A related cause of action for 

purposes of the compulsory cross-complaint statute must also be a cause of action 

that existed when the answer was served. (ZF Micro Devices, Inc. v. TAT Capital 

Partners, Ltd. (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 69, 81; Align Technology, Inc. v. Tran (2009) 

179 Cal.App.4th 949, 960.) 

"The compulsory cross-complaint statute is designed to prevent 'piecemeal 

litigation.' [Citations omitted.] . . . . In furtherance of this intent of avoiding a 

multiplicity of actions, numerous cases have held that the compulsory cross-

complaint statute—both section 426.30 and its predecessor statute (former section 

439)—must be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose. [Citations omitted.]" 

(Align Technology, Inc. v. Tran, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at 959.) Code of Civil 

Procedure § 426.50 "shall be liberally construed to avoid forfeiture of causes of 

action." (Code Civ. Proc. § 426.50.) 
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Analysis 

In Align Technology, Inc. v. Tran, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th 949, the Court held that 

an employer's claims against a former employee for misappropriation of patents 

were barred by the compulsory cross-complaint rule because the employer failed to 

file a cross-complaint asserting those claims against the employee in response to 

the employee's prior cross-complaint for wrongful termination and breach of 

contract, finding the claims all arose out of the parties' employment relationship. 

(Id. at 960.) The Court acknowledged the limited case law in California construing 

the meaning of a related cause of action. The Court found that to meet the related 

standard, the claims in a compulsory cross-complaint only need to have a "logical 

relationship" to the underlying action. (Id.) In so ruling, the Court stated that 

"[b]ecause of the liberal construction given to the statute to accomplish its purpose 

of avoiding a multiplicity of actions, 'transaction' is construed broadly; it is 'not 

confined to a single, isolated act or occurrence … but may embrace a series of acts 

or occurrences logically interrelated [citations].' " (Id.) 

Plaintiff does not dispute that the claims Constantino seeks to assert existed at the 

time her answer to the Complaint was filed, but Cool Systems contends the causes 

of action Constantino seeks leave to assert are not related to its claims for breach of 

contract and conversion under the Agreement alleged in the Complaint. The claims 

asserted in the Complaint arise out of the Agreement, and the employment 

relationship Constantino had with Cool Systems which are the basis of her 

proposed cross-complaint have a logical connection to the Agreement and arise out 

of that transaction. (See, e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 9, 13; Proposed X-Compl. ¶¶ 11, 12, 20-

22.) Cool Systems is suing to enforce obligations of Constantino to return property 

under the Agreement; Constantino alleges the Agreement is unenforceable because 

the employment relationship Cool Systems sought to establish with her under the 

Agreement violates public policy and various Labor Code provisions and related 

authority. (Complaint; Proposed X-Compl. ¶ 36.) Further, though there was delay 

in Constantino's attempt to assert the claims raised in the proposed cross-

complaint, the evidence before the Court does not indicate that Constantino or her 

counsel acted in bad faith. 

The Court relies on Align Technology and other California decisions cited in that 

case and applying Code of Civil Procedure § 426.50. (See also Currie Medical 
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Specialties, Inc. v. Bowen (1982) 136 Cal. App. 3d 774, 777.) The federal decisions 

cited in Cool Systems' Opposition are not binding on the Court, and the Court does 

not find them persuasive on this issue. (T.H. v. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp. 

(2017) 4 Cal.5th 145, 175; People v. Gonzales and Soliz (2011) 52 Cal.4th 254, 

296 ["[W]hile we may find lower federal court decisions on points of state law 

persuasive, they do not control."].)   

Liberally construe the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure § 426.50 in light of its 

purposes, the Court grants Constantino leave to file her proposed cross-complaint.  

The Court notes Constantino's arguments in her motion regarding the application 

of the "relation back" doctrine for purposes of the statute of limitations and the 

tolling effect of her filing a claim with the DLSE. The Court does not address those 

issues and makes no determination regarding any statute of limitations, relation 

back effect, or tolling issues raised in the motion. 

 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00770 

CASE NAME: BERRETH VS. ETIENNE 

HEARING ON MOTION TO EXPUNGE LIS PENDENS 

FILED BY LINSAY C. ETIENNE 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

 Defendant’s Motion to Expunge Lis Pendens is denied.  Plaintiff’s request 

for an award of attorney’s fees under CCP § 405.38 is also denied. 

 

Background 

 

The FAC alleges causes of action for Quiet Title, Slander of Title, 

and Declaratory Relief.  According to the complaint, Plaintiff put defendant, his 

adult, former step-daughter, on title as a one-half owner of a house he bought in 

Oakley in 2015 so he could obtain a loan.  (FAC, ¶ 8, 9.)  Thereafter, defendant 

forged plaintiff’s name to a quitclaim deed so that plaintiff and defendant would 

no longer be on record as co-owners of the property.  Rather, defendant would 

appear to own it alone.  (¶ 10, 11.)  Plaintiff recorded a Lis Pendens against the 

Property on June 16, 2021. 

 

Defendant now moves to expunge the Lis Pendens. 
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In support of the motion to expunge, defendant submits a declaration in 

which she states that she was the one who wanted to purchase a property, but she 

needed plaintiff’s financial assistance to do so.  Both parties were put on title when 

the Property was purchased in December 2015.  They had agreed in advance, 

however, that plaintiff would not remain on title because defendant was to be the 

exclusive owner.  Thus, shortly after the Property was purchased, defendant signed 

a quitclaim deed, deeding his interest in the Property to defendant “per our 

agreement and intention.”  (Etienne Decl., ¶ 6-8.)   Defendant did not record the 

quitclaim deed for a year.  During the interim, plaintiff never complained about 

signing it or denied its existence or authenticity.  (Id., ¶ 10, 11.)  Defendant’s 

mother and plaintiff separated in April 2020. 

 

In his Opposition to the motion to expunge, plaintiff submits a declaration 

in which he states that he was the one who wanted to buy the Property.  (¶ 3.)  

He denies being aware of the quitclaim deed until after he was locked out of the 

Property following the separation in April 2020.  (¶ 6.)  He then states, ‘I never 

executed a quit claim deed to transfer any interest of mine in the Property to 

[defendant] or any other person.”  (¶ 7.)  Further, he denies ever meeting the person 

listed as the notary on the quitclaim deed.  (¶ 8.)  In addition, plaintiff’s attorney 

submits a declaration stating that the notary has not kept up her license and has not 

responded to his request to produce a copy of the pertinent page of her notary 

book.  (Yorkey Decl., ¶ 2-4.)   

 

Discussion 

 

A court “shall order [a lis pendens] expunged if the court finds that the 

pleading on which the notice is based does not contain a real property claim. . . . ”  

(CCP § 405.31.)  If the complaint does contain a real property claim, then the court 

“shall order that the [lis pendens] be expunged if the court finds that the claimant 

has not established by a preponderance of the evidence the probable validity of the 

real property claim.”  (CCP § 405.32. . . .The plaintiff has the burden to prove that 

the complaint contains a real property claim and that such claim has probable 

validity.  (CCP § 405.30.) 

 

“Probable validity” for these purposes means that it is more likely than not 

that the claimant will obtain a judgment against the defendant on the claim.  
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(CCP § 405.3.)   

 

Plaintiff has met his burden to establish the probable validity of a real 

property claim.  The complaint states causes of action for Quiet Title and Slander 

of Title.  These are real property claims for purposes of Code of Civil Procedure 

section 405.4 and 405.31.  (CCP § 405.4 (“’Real property claim’ means the cause 

or causes of action in a pleading which would, if meritorious, affect (a) title to, or 

the right to possession of, specific real property . . .”)  Defendant does not argue to 

the contrary or that that the real property claims have not been adequately alleged.  

(See Kirkeby v. Sup. Ct. (2004) 33 Cal.4th 642, 647-648 (court engages in 

demurrer-like analysis when ruling on a motion to expunge).)   

 

Further, the court finds after a review of all the evidence that plaintiff has 

shown he will probably prevail on his real property claims.  (See CCP 405.3.)   

 

The court has reviewed the two exemplars of plaintiff’s signature in the file:  

(1) the one on the quitclaim deed attached to the verified Complaint and (2) the one 

on plaintiff’s declaration filed 1/24/22.  The two signatures do not appear to be the 

same.  Not only does the handwriting appear to be different, but on the declaration, 

plaintiff puts his first initial at the end of his signature, whereas it is at the 

beginning of the signature on the quitclaim deed.  This, coupled with the fact that 

the notary has not cooperated in producing the pertinent page from her notary 

book, persuades the court that plaintiff will probably prevail in this action. 

 

Notarial fraud is not unknown.  The presumption raised by notarization of 

a document is only one affecting the burden of producing evidence.  (Evid. C. 

§ 1450, 1451; see Jacobson v. Gourley (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 1331, 1334.)  It is 

rebuttable and may be rebutted by the testimony of the person who allegedly 

signed the document.  (See Du Bois v. Larke (1959) 175 Cal.App.2d 737, 746 

(grantor did not contest her signature, but the number of acres she had 

transferred).)  Plaintiff has filed sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption here.  

The motion to expunge the lis pendens is denied. 

 

Of course, it is always possible that the forged signature is the one on the 

declaration and not the one on the quitclaim deed.  If defendant can file evidence of 

that in the future, she may renew her motion.   
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Attorney’s Fees 

 

“The court shall direct that the party prevailing on any motion under this 

chapter be awarded the reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of making or opposing 

the motion unless the court finds that the other party acted with substantial 

justification or that other circumstances make the imposition of attorney’s fees and 

costs unjust.”  (CCP § 405.38.) 

 

The court denies the request for fees.  Each side in this case has submitted 

credible-sounding declarations.  Plaintiff’s counsel has submitted no evidence that 

he tried to avoid fees by supplying declarations or other evidence to defendant’s 

counsel before he drafted his Opposition.  Further, plaintiff denies ever signing a 

quitclaim deed, but fails to make the strongest statement he presumably could 

have, which would have been to attach the quitclaim deed to his declaration and 

say, “That’s not my signature.”  Under the circumstances, the imposition of 

attorney’s fees and costs would be unjust. 

 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-01627 

CASE NAME: BOSCH VS. CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 

HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 

FILED BY CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, et al. 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Hearing dropped by Court. 1st Amended Complaint filed 1/24/22. 

 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN21-2279 

CASE NAME: RE THE PETITION OF BARRINGTON FUNDING 

HEARING ON PETITION FOR APPROVAL OF TRANSFER OF 

SETTLEMENT PAYMENTS  /  FILED BY BARRINGON FUNDING 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Unopposed motion granted. 
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17.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSC19-00879 

CASE NAME: ALPHA GAP, INC.  VS.  WOODRUFF-SAWYER & CO. 

JURY TRIAL - SHORT CAUSE / 5 DAY(S) 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Jury trials are currently suspended. Appearance required. 

 

 

 

ADD-ON 

 

18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN21-1890 

CASE NAME: EUGENE HUFF VS. CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 

HEARING ON PETITION FOR PEREMPTORY WRIT OF MANDATE 

FILED BY PETITIONERS 

* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Please note the time change to 9 a.m. if the TR is timely contested. Respondent 

lodged additional documents today, without any explanation or cover sheet. 

A supplemental cover sheet is to be served and filed by 4 pm. today explaining 

what the purpose of such filing is and what differences there are, if any, compared 

to the original notice of “Respondent’s submission of material for in camera 

inspection….” dated 1/28/22. 

Petitioners Eugene Huff, Jonah Nicholas, and Diogenes Shipp (collectively 

“Petitioners”) seek a writ of mandate directing Respondents Contra Costa 

Community College District (“District”) to comply with their California Public 

Records Act ("CPRA") request. Petitioners have filed a separate action against 

Respondents for violations of provisions of the California Labor Code, Education 

Code and Government Code (Case No. C21-02408).  

The Court issued a tentative ruling in which it found that Respondents did not have 

proper grounds to withhold certain documents requested pursuant to the California 

Public Records Act. Respondents were further ordered to submit an investigative 

report (the “Report”) for in camera review. Respondents provided the Report as 

well as other evidence.  The Court has reviewed the material and again finds that 

the Respondents waived their privilege when they chose to significantly disclose 

portions of the Report in their administrative decisions. As such, they cannot rely 
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on privilege to avoid disclosing the entire Report as part of the CPRA request. As 

set forth below, Respondents are to submit a redacted Report on or before February 

11, 2022. If, after review, the Court agrees with the redactions, the approved and 

redacted Report will be delivered to the Petitioners on or before February 18, 2022.  

The primary purpose of the work product privilege is to protect the “impressions, 

conclusions, opinions, legal research, or conclusions.” Coito v. Superior Court 

(2012) 54 Cal. 4th 480, 486. Disclosure that is “wholly inconsistent” with the 

purpose of safeguarding the attorney’s work product and trial preparation will 

result in waiver of the privilege. The principle purpose of the doctrine of waiver is 

to “protect against the unfairness that would result from a privilege holder 

selectively disclosing privileged communication to an adversary, revealing those 

that support the cause while claiming the shelter of privilege to avoid disclosing 

those that are less favorable.” Apple Inc. v. Samsung Electronics Co. LTD. (ND Ca 

2016) 306 F.R.D. 234, 241.  

A. Armijo Investigative Report  

As stated in the previous opinion on this matter, what constitutes a “significant 

disclosure” for waiver is up for judicial interpretation. The court has looked at a 

multitude of cases on the subject, both state and federal, for guidance while 

reviewing the Report in camera. This matter continues to be differentiated by cases 

that did not find waiver because of the significant amounts of specific information 

taken from the Report and expressly adopted and included in the administrative 

determination letters. Compare So Cal Gas (party claiming privilege did not reveal 

specific content of its communications with counsel and did not draw any 

conclusions based on counsel consultations); EEOC v. v. Continental Airlines, Inc. 

(ND Ill) 395 F.Supp.2d 738, 743 (no disclosure found where the EEOC did not 

“selectively disclose information and then sought the shelter of privilege” when it 

did not disclose any “selected portions of its [investigative] report, but only the 

manner in which the report was completed and the methods by which inclusion or 

exclusion of materials was made). 

Here, Respondents voluntarily chose to disclose more than the mere existence of 

the Report when issuing their administrative determination letters.  Instead, the 

Respondents provided details directly from the report including the names of 

witnesses interviewed, direct statements made by various witnesses, and 

conclusions drawn by the investigator as to the believability of the various witness 

statements. After a review of the Report, the Court finds that the principle purpose 

of waiver is found here.  Respondents have unfairly selectively disclosed alleged 
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privileged material that support its cause, while claiming shelter of privilege to 

avoid disclosure of less favorable facts. The Court further finds the disclosures in 

the letters were significant.  

In the Huff administrative decision, when responding to the allegation that Gordon 

made improper comments about Huff at the December 11, 2019, Respondents 

wrote: 

The investigator cited Carney’s testimony in her report stating that Carney asserted 

he heard Gordan call you a “bully” during the December 11, 2019 meeting and said 

that Gordon also read from an anonymous letter she had received. Gordon provided 

Carney with a copy of the anonymous complaint, which was included in the 

investigative report. The investigation report said, “The [anonymous] letter stated 

that Complainants and Mike Todd are ‘an elite men’s club [and] are discriminating 

against mostly women.’” (Petition Ex. A). 

They go onto identify by name three more witnesses who “confirmed that Gordon 

read the anonymous complaint during the December 11, 2019 closed session.”  

(Id). Later, Respondents disclose that “statements were made by Barrett, Li and 

Marquez that the circumstances surrounding the delivery of the anonymous 

complaint were suspicious and that Barrett and Li thought that Gordon 

manufactured the complaint herself.” In just this section alone, Respondents also 

disclosed that the Report contained “extraneous evidence unrelated to the 

investigation e.g., evidence relating to the universal board policy numbering 

system and whether you engaged in an unauthorized entry into the office of former 

Chancellor Fred Wood.” The Respondents then acknowledge that none of the 

extraneous evidence was relevant to the current determination, but inexplicably 

chose to disclose information about that as well.  

There are many more places within the administrative letter that directly quote 

from the Report or that provided detailed summaries of witness statements. 

For example, on page 7 of the Huff determination, there are three lengthy 

paragraphs with very specific information about the witness statements of 

three different people. The witnesses names are given, there are quoted statements 

from the witnesses and there direct quotations reflecting the findings and 

conclusions of the investigating attorney herself. While these summaries of the 

statements were detailed and lengthy, the Court notes they were also somewhat 

selectively produced.  

On page 8 of the letter, the district again cites to specific quotes from witness 

statements, identifies additional witnesses by name, and even includes a lengthy 
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direct quotation that includes a cut and paste of a text message thread between 

witnesses.  

The court notes that there are portions of the Report that contain statements from 

witnesses that were not included in the administrative letter. It also contains 

statements from several witnesses that were left out of the Report. However, after a 

review of the Report, the court finds that the administrative decision letter was a 

significant disclosure of the contents of the Report. This included significant 

disclosures of not only facts and witness testimony, but also the impressions and 

conclusions of the attorney. The court therefore finds that the Respondents 

significantly disclosed the Armijo Report in their administrative letters, which were 

voluntarily given to adversaries, and as such work product and attorney client 

privilege are waived.  

 In accordance with the prior order, Respondents are to redact the names and 

identifying information of all witnesses which were not already disclosed in the 

administrative report. Petitioner may be charged for the costs of duplicating the 

records, but may not be charged for ancillary costs such as the cost of any 

redactions. See National Lawyers Guild, SF Bay Area Chapter v. City of Hayward 

(2020) 9 Cal. 5th 488, 491.  The redacted report is to be delivered to the court by 

10 a.m. on 2/10/22 for review. The court will release the report to the Petitioners 

soon thereafter once the court has approved and/or disapproved of the redactions 

and that ruling will be found on the 2/11/22 calendar at 9 a.m. 

 B. Titan Group Documents 

 Respondents provided the Court with a copy of the Titan Group Letter that 

was already provided as part of Petitioner’s Petition for Writ. In its objections to 

the Court’s prior ruling, Respondents assert that the Titan Document CPRA request 

is moot because Petitioner already has the document. This is not a sufficient reason 

to refuse to disclose the document under the CPRA because the issue is not current 

possession, but rather the ability to public disclose the information without fear of 

liability. See Caldecott v. Superior Court (2015) 243 Cal. App. 4th 212, 219. 

Neither the motive behind the request, nor the intended use of the requested 

documents is relevant. Id. As we have already found that disclosure serves a public 

purpose, Respondents must provide this document as part of the CPRA request. 

As the CPRA request sought all documents and communications related to the 

investigation, Respondents must address that additional aspect of the request and 

provide specific reasons why any exemption should apply. That should be provided 

in a supplemental brief also to be filed by 2/10/22 and the court will rule on the 
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claimed exemption thereafter on 2/11/22 at 9 a.m. as well as redactions not 

approved of by the court. 

 

 

 

 


